Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-23-2013

Donoval v. City of Sun Valley Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 40853

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Statement Of The Case

In March of 2012, Mr. Donoval served upon Sun Valley written public record requests seeking not only credit card statements, but the authorization documents associated with those credit card statements, all of which had been fully signed/initialed by the four Sun Valley officials required to do so (the Treasurer, the City Administrator, the Mayor and a City Council Member). During the record request process, Mr. Donoval was never provided any of the forty two (42) formally authorized credit card authorization forms (either originals or copies), and was instead provided *copies* of authorization forms associated with about half of the credit card statements at issue that were eventually asserted, under oath, to be forgeries. Even though he made multiple written demands to view the *original* documents at issue, Mr. Donoval was only allowed to review the *original* credit card statements, and the falsified authorization documents, well after he had filed suit against Sun Valley.

(ii) Course Of The Proceedings

Mr. Donoval filed the Complaint herein on August 20, 2012. As is further described, Mr. Donoval originally named the Idaho Attorney General's office as a defendant, and then the Blaine County Prosecutor's office as a defendant, but both were eventually voluntarily dismissed as defendants by Mr. Donoval.

Although Mr. Donoval requested that evidential hearings be held by the District Court, Judge Brody instead proceeded solely on the non-verified pleadings of Sun Valley, holding oral arguments by counsel on January 15, 2013. On February 14, 2013, Judge Brody entered his Memorandum Decision Denying Plaintiff's Request For An Order To

Compel Production Of Public Records (Record 666-674) (the "Memorandum Decision"), finding that Sun Valley had adequately responded to Mr. Donoval's public record requests. Judge Brody also denied Mr. Donoval's request that fines be entered against Sun Valley officials pursuant to *Idaho Statute 9-345* (Record 666-674).

On March 20, 2013, Mr. Donoval filed the Notice Of Appeal herein (Record 676-691).

(iii) Statement Of Facts

The Sun Valley Credit Card Approval And Record Retention Procedures

Idaho Statute 50-208 provides in relevant part:

"The treasurer of each city shall be the custodian of all moneys belonging to the city; he shall keep a separate account of each fund or appropriation, and the debits and credits belonging thereto; he shall give a receipt to every person paying money into the treasury, thereon specifying the date of payment and on what account paid; he shall also file copies of such receipts with his monthly reports; he shall at the end of every month and as often as may be required, render an account to the city council, under oath, showing the state of the treasury at the date of such account and the balance of money in the treasury; he shall also accompany such accounts with a statement of all receipts and disbursements, together with all warrants redeemed and paid by him (emphasis added), which said warrants, with any and all vouchers held by him, shall be filed with his said account in the clerk's office (emphasis added), and if said treasurer neglect or fail for the space of ten (10) days from the end of each month, to render his said account, his office shall be declared vacant, and the city council shall fill the vacancy by appointment."

Idaho Statute 50-907 provides in relevant part:

- "(2) "Semipermanent records" shall consist of:
- (a) Claims, canceled checks, warrants, duplicate warrants, purchase orders, vouchers, duplicate receipts, utility and other financial records:
- (4) Semipermanent and temporary records *may only be destroyed by resolution of the city council* (emphasis added), and upon the advice of the city attorney. Such disposition shall be under the direction and supervision of the city clerk. The resolution ordering the destruction shall list in detail records to be destroyed."

Idaho Statute 50-908 provides in relevant part:

"The unauthorized *destruction or removal* (emphasis added) of city records, is prohibited."

Idaho Statute 90-349(3) provides in relevant part:

"Public records of the state and/or territory of Idaho are the property of the citizens of the state in perpetuity and *they may not be improperly or unlawfully transferred or removed from their proper custodian* (emphasis added)."

Idaho Statute 18-3201 provides:

"Any public officer, law enforcement officer, or subordinate thereof, who willfully destroys, alters, falsifies (emphasis added) or commits the theft of the whole or any part of any police report of any record kept as part of the official government records of the state or any county or municipality in the state, shall be guilty of a felony (emphasis added) and is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for not more than fourteen (14) years."

To supplement the requirements of *Idaho Statute 50-208* (and the other statutes described above), Sun Valley officials established a formal procedure by which every expenditure of Sun Valley was to be formally approved by the Sun Valley Treasurer, then the Sun Valley City Administrator, then the Sun Valley Mayor, and then a Sun Valley City Council Member, *in that order*. (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575). The Sun Valley Treasurer was then required to present the expenditures to the Sun Valley City Council for approval, *under oath* (pursuant to *Idaho Statute 50-208*), certifying that the Sun Valley Treasurer had obtained all necessary expenditure sign-offs described in the expenditure approval process (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575). The form that was to be used to obtain the expenditure sign-offs of all necessary Sun Valley officials (Record 41) was named the "Yellow Sheet" because it was prepared on yellow paper (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575). The Yellow Sheet expenditure

approval procedure applied to all Sun Valley issued credit card transactions (Aff. Of Hammer; Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575). The Yellow Sheet approval process also required the Sun Valley Treasurer to retain all of the original Yellow Sheets associated with all expenditure transactions, including in regards to all credit card transactions (Aff. Of Hammer; Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575).

The Sun Valley City Council also established a written formal policy related to the usage of Sun Valley issued credit cards (the "Credit Card Policy") (Record 495-498), which made the Sun Valley Treasurer the sole Sun Valley official responsible for the legitimacy of any and all transactions utilizing a Sun Valley issued credit card (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575)⁵.

Once formal approval for payment of the credit card statements was obtained by the Sun Valley Treasurer, it was also then the Sun Valley Treasurer's sole responsibility to retain the credit card statements and associated Yellow Sheets (see *Idaho Statute 50-208* and the Credit Card Policy), and to ensure that neither were destroyed without the formal approval of the Sun Valley City Council pursuant to *Idaho Statute 50-907* (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 485-489; Aff. Of Willich, Record 572-575).

Mr. Donoval's Public Record Requests Related To Sun Valley Issued Credit Cards a) The Public Record Requests

During November and December of 2011, Former Mayor Willich and Former Administrator Hammer discovered that Former Treasurer Frostenson was removing

8

⁵ Both copies of the Credit Card Policy in the record (Record 35-37 and Record 496-498) are difficult to read in places because certain portions were highlighted in yellow magic marker in the original documents filed with the District Court. The highlighted portion of the Credit Card Policy at the bottom of the first page actually states "B. The Finance Manager is responsible for administration of credit cards to include selection of card provider, payment of credit card bills, managing the issuance of credit cards, and ensuring proper use". The highlighted portion of the Credit Card Policy in the middle of the second page actually states "Ensure Proper Use: The Finance Manager will ensure that all cards are used in accordance with this policy. Any misuse will be reported to the City Administrator."

financial records from Sun Valley City Hall without the knowledge or approval of either Former Mayor Willich or Former Administrator Hammer (Aff. Of Hammer; Record 490; Aff. Of Willich, Record 575; Donoval Aff., Record 450). Both Former Administrator Hammer and Former Mayor Willich certified under oath that Former Treasurer Frostenson's actions in removing the financial records from Sun Valley City Hall warranted that Former Treasurer Frostenson be immediately terminated as the Sun Valley Treasurer during the remainder of Former Mayor Willich's term as Mayor Of Sun Valley (Aff. Of Hammer, Record 490; Aff. Of Willich, Record 575). Although Former Mayor Willich sought to have Former Treasurer Frostenson terminated by Sun Valley City Council vote before the end of his term as Mayor Of Sun Valley, the Sun Valley City Council (with Mayor Elect DeWayne Briscoe ("Current Mayor Briscoe") still as its President), which was required to vote to terminate Former Treasurer Frostenson pursuant to Sun Valley policies, refused Former Mayor Willich's request to hold a Sun Valley City Council meeting before the end of Former Mayor Willich's tenure as the Mayor of Sun Valley to take up the issue of Former Treasurer Frostenson's termination (Aff. Of Willich, Record 578).

Likewise, during December of 2011, attorney Kirtlan Naylor ("Attorney Naylor") was found to have also removed Sun Valley public records from Sun Valley City Hall without the authority of either Former Mayor Willich or Former Administrator Hammer (Donoval Aff., Record 450)⁶.

-

⁶ Attorney Naylor's role in the matter herein is certainly questionable, as Attorney Naylor was not the duly appointed Sun Valley City Attorney (attorney Adam King was the Sun Valley City Attorney). There is no evidence in the record herein (other than that Attorney Naylor was somehow involved in trying to settle the law suit Former City Administrator Hammer had filed against Sun Valley after her termination on January 19, 2012) (Donoval Aff., Record 440), as to what work Attorney Naylor was actually ever formally retained to perform on behalf of Sun Valley. There is simply no evidence in the record that Attorney Naylor

On November 18, 2011, Mr. Donoval (Former Administrator Hammer's husband and a resident of Sun Valley) filed a public records request to Sun Valley seeking that he be provided with certain payroll and bank account records of Sun Valley (the "Original Public Records Request")(Donoval Aff., Record 438-439; Record 453-454). Sun Valley denied the Original Public Records Request (Donoval Aff., Record 439). Mr. Donoval thereafter filed a law suit in Blaine County (*Donoval v. Sun Valley*, CV-2011-985 Blaine County) (the "Original Public Records Law Suit") seeking the payroll and bank statement records that Mr. Donoval believed that Former Treasurer Frostenson had improperly removed from Sun Valley City Hall and which Sun Valley had refused to produce (Donoval Aff., Record 439). On March 6, 2012, Hon. Judge John K. Butler entered his judgment in the Original Public Records Law Suit requiring that Sun Valley produce the bank statements that Mr. Donoval had requested in the Original Public Records Request (Donoval Aff., Record 439; Record 4567-458)⁷.

Mr. Donoval thereafter filed six (6) new public record requests seeking additional financial information from Sun Valley that was described in the bank records produced by Sun Valley (Donoval Aff., Record 439-440), which Mr. Donoval also believe Former Treasurer Frostenson had improperly removed from Sun Valley City Hall. Three of the new public record requests (the "Credit Card Record Requests") (Donoval Aff., Record 440; Record 43-56; Record 58-72; Record 74-86), sought credit card statements and back up authorization documents (including the Yellow Sheets) for Sun Valley issued credit

-

was formally authorized pursuant to the previously described <u>Idaho Statute 50-908</u> or <u>Idaho Statute 90-349(3)</u> to obtain Sun Valley public records, to remove Sun Valley public records from the Sun Valley City Hall, or to provide Sun Valley Public records to any third parties, as Attorney Naylor later admitted that he had, including purportedly the public records that had been requested by Mr. Donoval.

⁷ As part of the Order, Judge Butler denied Mr. Donoval's request for certain confidential Sun Valley employee payroll records.

cards issued to three Sun Valley employees (Former Administrator Hammer, Former Treasurer Frostenson, and, former Sun Valley Fire Chief Jeff Carnes ("Former Fire Chief Carnes")) for the periods of September of 2010, through and including, October of 2011 (i.e. fourteen (14) months).

In Affidavits filed in the matter herein, both Former Mayor Willich and Former Administrator Hammer certified that during the period covered by the Credit Card Record Requests, that a properly approved Yellow Sheet was prepared for each of the credit card statements Mr. Donoval sought in the Credit Card Record Requests (Hammer Aff., Record 492; Willich Aff., Record 577), and that Former Treasurer Frostenson had appeared at a monthly Sun Valley City Council meeting during each of the months at issue and had sworn, *under oath* pursuant to *Idaho Statute* 50-208, to the Sun Valley City Council, that Former Treasurer Frostenson had obtained the proper sign-offs of the Yellow Sheets for each of the credit card statements covered by the Credit Card Record Requests (Hammer Aff., Record 487-488; Willich Aff., Record 573-574). Former Administrator Hammer certified under oath that on multiple occasions during 2009 through 2011, Former Treasurer Frostenson confirmed to Former Administrator Hammer that Former Treasurer Frostenson had obtained all the necessary approvals on all of the Yellow Sheets associated with credit card transactions, and had retained all of the Yellow Sheets associated with credit card transactions in files in Sun Valley City Hall (Hammer Aff., Record 489).

The Credit Card Record Requests submitted by Mr. Donoval therefore should have produced fourteen (14) credit card statements each for the Sun Valley credit cards issued to Former Administrator Hammer, Former Treasurer Frostenson, and, Former Fire

Chief Carnes (or forty two (42) separate credit card statements). Likewise, the Credit Card Record Requests response should have also included fourteen (14) Yellow Sheets associated with each of the fourteen (14) credit card statements associated with the Sun Valley credit cards issued to Former Administrator Hammer, Former Treasurer Frostenson, and, Former Fire Chief Carnes for the periods of September of 2010 through October of 2011 (or a total of forty two (42) Yellow Sheets), all of which should have included the initials of Former Treasurer Frostenson, Former Administrator Hammer, Former Mayor Willich, and one Sun Valley City Council Member on each and every Yellow Sheet. As the credit card statements and all associated Yellow Sheets requested by Mr. Donoval were to have been retained in files in Sun Valley City Hall by Former Treasurer Frostenson, the response to the Credit Card Record Requests should have simply required Sun Valley to show Mr. Donoval the original credit card statements and associated Yellow Sheets, and to copy the files associated with Former Administrator Hammer's, Former Treasurer Frostenson's, and, Former Fire Chief Carnes' Sun Valley issued credit card files which Former Treasurer Frostenson was required to maintain pursuant to Idaho statutes and Sun Valley adopted policies and procedures, and which Former Treasurer Frostenson had verified on multiple occasions that she had retained (Hammer Aff., Record 489).

What followed, however, was nothing short of what Mr. Donoval believes was a deceptive and purposeful effort on the part of Sun Valley to refuse to provide Mr. Donoval the Yellow Sheets associated with the Credit Card Record Requests Mr. Donoval was entitled to receive, and to instead provide Mr. Donoval with forgeries.

b) The Initial Review Of Records On July 27, 2012

For a short period after Mr. Donoval filed the Credit Card Record Requests, at the request of Attorney Naylor, Mr. Donoval and Sun Valley agreed to stay the production of the documents Mr. Donoval was seeking, because Former Administrator Hammer's attorney (Eric Swartz) and Attorney Naylor were seeking to settle Former Administrator Hammer's pending discrimination, harassment and retaliation law suits against Sun Valley related to Former Administrator Hammer's termination on January 19, 2012 as the Sun Valley City Administrator (Donoval Aff. Record 440). Thereafter, and before Sun Valley produced any of the documents requested by Mr. Donoval in the Credit Card Record Requests, Former Administrator Hammer and Mr. Donoval were both informed by Sun Valley employees that Former Treasurer Frostenson, Sun Valley Assistant City Clerk Julia Kinsey-Lovey ("Assistant Clerk Kinsey-Lovey"), and other Sun Valley employees were shredding hundreds, if not thousands, of pages of Sun Valley documents at the direction of Sun Valley Interim Executive Assistant Virginia Egger ("Executive Assistant Egger")⁸ in Sun Valley City Hall (many of which both Mr. Donoval and Former Administrator Hammer believed were original financial records of Sun Valley) without explicit approval of the Sun Valley City Council, as was required by *Idaho* Statute 50-907, including the documents sought by Mr. Donoval in the Credit Card Record Requests (Hammer Aff., Record 493-494; Donoval Aff., Record 450-451)⁹.

⁸ Executive Assistant Egger was hired by Sun Valley subsequent to Former Administrator Hammer's termination on January 19, 2012 (Donoval Aff., Record 450-451).

⁹ Neither Former Administrator Hammer or Mr. Donoval revealed their sources of this information due to their fears that the Sun Valley employee(s) would be retaliated against, but confirmed that they would reveal the name of their source(s) to either the District Court in-camera or to the Blaine County Prosecutor (Hammer Aff., Record 493-494; Donoval Aff., Record 450-451).

In addition, in June of 2012, while Mr. Donoval's Credit Card Record Requests were still pending, Former Treasurer Frostenson resigned her position as the Sun Valley Treasurer (Donoval Aff., Record 451), after Sun Valley had commenced a forensic audit of the Sun Valley finances¹⁰ that Former Treasurer Frostenson was responsible for by the previously described *Idaho Statute 50-208*.

By early July of 2012, as Attorney Naylor had failed to reach a settlement with Ms. Hammer's attorney in regards to Ms. Hammer's pending law suit, Mr. Donoval started making multiple written demands to Sun Valley and Sun Valley City Attorney Adam King ("City Attorney King") that Mr. Donoval be able to review the original documents sought in the Credit Card Record Requests (Donoval Aff. Record 440). Mr. Donoval was required to pay in advance for all of the records he sought in the Credit Card Record Requests (Donoval Supp. Aff., Record 638).

Although Mr. Donoval admits that he did not specifically check the box to examine "original" records in the request forms submitted as part of the Credit Card Record Requests (Record 43; Record 58; Record 74), Mr. Donoval sent City Attorney King an email on July 25, 2012 specifically demanding that Mr. Donoval be able to review "original" documents covered by the public record requests submitted by Mr. Donoval to Sun Valley at Sun Valley City Hall on July 27, 2012 (Donoval Aff., Record 441; Record 88).

__

¹⁰ See Idaho Mountain Express news articles of March 21, 2012, "Sun Valley pursues city wide audit"; April 4, 2012, "Sun Valley pursues contract with forensic audit firm"; April 11, 2012, "Sun Valley moves to retain outside law firm – City wants confidentiality as it initiates forensic audit"; April 19, 2012, "Forensic audit-related items on today's council agenda"; May 2, 2012, "Sun Valley establishes finance committee – Council members to provide additional oversight of payables"; June 13, 2012, "Investigations ongoing" (Record 191-196).

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