# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-24-2013

# Donoval v. City of Sun Valley Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 40853

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

As shown below, the District Court properly rejected the claims in the Amended Complaint, but erred in denying Sun Valley's request for costs and fees. Sun Valley therefore requests that the Court affirm the dismissal of Donoval's Amended Complaint and remand for further proceedings on the issue of whether Sun Valley is entitled to its costs and fees in defending against Donoval's frivolous pursuit of his claims.

### A. Idaho's Public Records Law

The district court's interpretation of the Public Records Law is a question of law over which the Court exercises free review. *Cowles Pub. Co. v. Kootenai Cnty Bd. of Cnty Cmm'rs.*, 144 Idaho 259, 262 (2007); *Magic Valley Newspapers, Inc. v. Magic Valley Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 138 Idaho 143, 144 (2002). "'Interpretation of a statute begins with an examination of the statute's literal words." *Cowles Publ. Co.*, 144 Idaho at 262 (quoting *Idaho Cons. League, Inc. v. Idaho State Dept. of Agric.*, 143 Idaho 366, 368 (2006). "Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, courts give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction." *Idaho Cons. League*, 143 Idaho at 368.

The underlying premise of the Public Records Law is that, in the interest of open government, the public has a right to examine and copy public records. I.C. § 9-338(1). "[T]here is a presumption that all public records in Idaho are open at all reasonable times for inspection except as otherwise expressly provided by statute." I.C. § 9-338(1); *Magic Valley Newspapers, Inc. v. Magic Valley Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 138 Idaho 143, 144 (2002); *Federated Publ., Inc. v. Boise City*, 128 Idaho 459, 463 (1996). The law also contains several exemptions, which

recognizes that while open government is favored, there are certain types of documents that require privacy. *See* I.C. §§ 9-340A to 9-340H (setting forth exemptions). For example, for obvious reasons, investigatory records of a law enforcement agency are exempt from disclosure. I.C. § 9-340(B)(1); *see also* I.C. §§ 9-337 and 9-335.

Notably, the Public Records Law does not speak in terms of "original documents" and there is no explicit requirement that a public agency provide original documents. Rather, the law mandates disclosure of "public records", defined as including, "but is not limited to, any writing containing information relating to the conduct or administration of the public's business prepared, owned, used or retained by any state agency, independent public body corporate and politic or local agency<sup>8</sup> regardless of physical form or characteristics." I.C. § 9-337(13).

A city is permitted to require a formal written request before records are produced for examination or copies are provided to the requester. I.C. §9-338(4). The city can require the request to contain the requester's name, mailing address, e-mail address, and telephone number. *Id.* Upon receipt of such a request, the city has three working days to respond in the normal case, but may take up to ten working days, upon written notification to the requestor, if additional time is needed. I.C. § 9-339(1). If the city fails to respond within ten working days of the request, the request is deemed denied. I.C. § 9-339(2). When the city affirmatively denies a request in full or in part, written notification to the requestor must be provided. I.C. § 9-339(3). The notification should contain a statement that the city's attorney reviewed the request or the city had an opportunity to consult with an attorney and chose not to, as well as a statement indicating the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "'Local agency' means a county, city, school district, municipal corporation, district, public health district, political subdivision, or any agency thereof, or any committee of a local agency, or any combination thereof." I.C. § 9-337(8). There is no dispute here that Sun Valley, as a city, is a local agency subject to the Public Records Law.

statutory authority for the denial, as well as a statement of the requestor's appeal rights. I.C. § 9-

339(4).

When a city denies in full or in part a request for public records, and therefore withholds production of documents in its possession, the requester can sue in district court to seek redress. I.C. § 9-343. The statute explicitly and in plain language provides the only available remedy:

The <u>sole remedy</u> for a person aggrieved by the <u>denial</u> of a request for disclosure for disclosure is to institute proceedings in the district court of the county where the records or some part thereof are located, <u>to compel the public agency or</u> <u>independent public body corporate and politic to make the information</u> <u>available for public inspection</u> in accordance with the provisions of sections 9-337 through 9-348, Idaho Code.

I.C. § 9-343(1) (emphasis added).

If it finds that public records are being improperly withheld, "the court shall order the public official charged with withholding the records to disclose the public record or show cause why he should not do so." I.C. § 9-344(1). Upon an order to show cause, "[i]f the court finds that the public official's decision to refuse disclosure is not justified, it shall order the public official to make the requested disclosure." I.C. § 9-344(2).

Significantly, the Public Records Law expressly sets forth the basis upon which a district

court's decision must be made in an action to compel the disclosure of documents:

The court shall decide the case after examining the pleadings filed by the parties and such oral arguments and additional evidence as the court **may** allow. The court may examine the record in camera in its discretion.

I.C. § 9-344(1) (emphasis added). Thus, the court has broad discretion in what materials it may consider outside the pleadings. There is plainly no requirement for affidavits or an evidentiary hearing.

The district court also has authority to impose a civil penalty of <u>up to</u> \$1,000 against a public official, but only if that public official "has deliberately and in bad faith improperly refused a legitimate request for inspection or copying." I.C. § 9-345.

If the court finds that "the request or refusal to provide records was frivolously <u>pursued</u>", it is required to award reasonable costs and attorney fees to the prevailing party. I.C. § 9-344(2) (emphasis added).

The Public Records Law is therefore essentially a proceeding to compel production of records. Obviously, if a document does not exist it cannot be produced. The statute plainly does not authorize the court to compel a government entity to defend itself against allegations of criminal misconduct, e.g., that documents were allegedly destroyed and forged. The law only authorizes the district court to determine whether public records are being improperly withheld and, if so, to compel their production. I.C. § 9-343(1).

## B. The District Court Properly Rejected Donoval's Claims in the Amended Complaint

The specific relief Donoval sought in his Complaint and Amended Complaint is not authorized under the Public Records Law. The statute does not require a government entity in this type of proceeding to defend itself against criminal allegations of destruction and forgery of documents. In addition, in resolving a public records dispute, while the court is required to examine the parties' pleadings, it has broad discretion in what other materials it may or may not consider; the court is not required to have the parties produce affidavits or to order an evidentiary hearing. Last, civil penalties can only be imposed where there is a deliberate refusal to produce public records improperly and in bad faith, which the District Court did not find here. The District Court correctly interpreted the Idaho Public Records Law and properly exercised its discretion in resolving the dispute below. Accordingly, the District Court properly rejected Donoval's Amended Complaint.

# 1. Idaho's Public Records Law Does not Authorize the Relief Sought by Donoval in his Amended Complaint.

The relief Donoval sought from the District Court is not obtainable. As explained above, the <u>sole remedy</u> under the Public Records Law is the person aggrieved by a <u>denial</u> of a request is to sue in district court <u>to compel production</u>. I.C. § 9-343(1). Despite this plain language, Donoval instead sought the following relief against Sun Valley:

- 1. Production of a subpoena purportedly issued by the Blaine County Prosecutor's Office;
- 2. If this subpoena does not exist, an explanation of why public records were released to the prosecutor's office, who authorized such release, and why Plaintiff has not been allowed to inspect the original documents;
- 3. Mandate that Donoval be allowed to inspect the original documents;
- 4. If Sun Valley does not produce the documents, and the prosecutor's office does not have possession of the documents, then the Court refer the matter for criminal investigation.

(R. Vol. 2, pp. 320-321.)<sup>9</sup>

The only item sought by Donoval in his Amended Complaint that is even remotely contemplated by the Public Records Law would be item (1), the production of a subpoena. However, Donoval never submitted a public records request for any subpoena. (*See* R. Vol. 1, pp. 43-86 (Request Nos. 1 - 3), pp. 212-249 (Request Nos. 4 - 6); R. Vol. 3, p. 667 (District Court's finding thereof)). Moreover, King informed Donoval of King's mistaken belief there was a subpoena in his September 4 email (R. Vol. 1, p. 254), and the Attorney General's Office confirmed this on October 4 (R. Vol. 2, pp. 284-286). As such, Donoval knew well before he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As set forth above, Donoval sought similar relief in his original Complaint.

filed his Amended Complaint on October 22 that there was no subpoena. In fact, Donoval conceded this in his Amended Complaint, yet still sought to have the subpoena produced. (R. Vol. 2, p. 308, ¶ 61-63.)

With respect to items (2) and (3), Donoval never sought original documents in his public records requests (*see* R. Vol. 1, pp. 43-86, 212-249) and when he finally decided he wanted to see originals, he did not submit additional public record requests seeking the same. Additionally, during the time period when Sun Valley was compiling all of the responsive documents for Donoval, King informed Donoval that Sun Valley had transferred the original documents to the Attorney General's Office in connection with a criminal investigation. (R. Vol. 1, p. 250 (August 7 email from King); R. Vol. 1, p. 115 (August 9 email from King)). King later clarified in an email to Donoval on September 4 that there was no subpoena, but rather the documents were voluntarily turned over for a criminal investigation. (R. Vol. 1, p. 254.) Donoval further received confirmation of the same from the Attorney General's Office on October 4. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 284-286.) Moreover, Donoval received confirmation from the Blaine County Prosecutor's Office on October 12, 2012, stating that <u>it had the original documents as part of an ongoing criminal investigation</u>, and would not release them pending the criminal investigation. (R. Vol. 2, p. 386); *see* I.C. § 9-340B (investigatory record exemption).

In fact, it was not until Donoval learned that the original documents were not in the possession of Sun Valley that he demanded access to them. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 104-107) (August 8 letter from Donoval to King.) Even so, Donoval did not submit any additional public record requests utilizing Sun Valley's established forms, like he did for the March 26 requests. Nevertheless, Donoval still filed suit against Sun Valley on August 20, 2012, and continued to frivolously pursue this matter in his Amended Complaint filed on October 22, 2012.

Further, on December 31, 2012, Donoval did actually go the Blaine County Prosecutor's Office and inspect the original documents. (Tr. pp. 14-15, 19:3-10, 22:6-13, 24:8-12, 25:18 – 26:9.) While Donoval consequently dismissed the Blaine County Prosecutor, he did not dismiss Sun Valley. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 634-636.) The Court concluded in its Memorandum Decision and Order that items (2) and (3) were moot because Donoval was able to inspect the original documents. (R. Vol. 3, p. 667.) It remains, however, that Donoval frivolously pursued his lawsuit against Sun Valley seeking original documents even though he never submitted valid requests for inspection of original documents and, in any event, he was able to review the original documents in existence once the criminal investigation concluded.

Last, with respect to item (4), again, the sole remedy under the Public Record Law is to compel production. I.C. § 9-343(1). Sun Valley does not dispute that a court generally has the discretion to refer a matter for criminal prosecution if the court believes such is warranted. However, that is plainly not a remedy provided for private citizens under the Public Records Law. More so, it is inappropriate under the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct for an attorney to "present . . . criminal charges solely to obtain advantage in a civil matter. . ." I.R.P.C. 4.4 Certainly, Donoval's factually unfounded allegations in this case of criminal misconduct, including that Mayor Briscoe "allowed" a break-in and theft of public records and that Sun Valley officials destroyed and forged yellow sheets (allegedly in violation of Idaho Code § 18-3201 (felony destruction, alteration or falsification of "official government records")), combined with Donoval's formal request of referral for criminal prosecution, even though plainly not authorized under the Public Records Law, raises concern regarding Rule 4.4, and generally reflects the frivolous nature of this lawsuit.

In sum, Donoval sought relief in his Complaint and Amended Complaint that the District Court could not grant. Nevertheless, in an exercise of its discretion, the District Court construed Donoval's complaint as "a request for [the District Court] to enter an order compelling [Sun Valley] to make any public records it has refused to make available for public inspection now available for public inspection." (R. Vol. 3, p. 668.) In so doing, consistent with the above, the District Court correctly stated that the Idaho Public Records Law does not "give this Court the authority to order [Sun Valley] to explain what happened to those records. This would go beyond the explicit remedy provided in I.C. 9-343(1)." (R. Vol. 3, p. 673.)

## 2. Idaho's Public Records Law Does Not Require Sun Valley to Defend Itself Against Donoval's Criminal Allegations of Destroyed and Forged Documents.

Despite the plain language of the statute, Donoval argues on appeal that the District Court erred as a matter of law in not recognizing it has inherent authority to mandate Sun Valley to respond to his allegations of criminal misconduct, including alleged destruction and forgery, and in not requiring Sun Valley to do so under oath. (*See* Appellant's Br. at 31-46.)

In support, Donoval cites to a number of federal cases dealing with the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), 5 U.S.C. § 552, for two general propositions: first, the court has broad equitable power to enforce the Public Records Law, such that the court has authority to go beyond the express "sole remedy" provided in the statute (Appellant's Br. at 37); second, it was Sun Valley's burden in the proceeding below to show "beyond a material doubt" and by "convincing evidence" (through non-conclusory affidavit or an evidentiary hearing) that it has conducted a reasonable search for responsive documents (Appellant's Br. at 38-43, 48).

As set forth above, the language of the Public Records Law is plain and unambiguous. The sole remedy is expressly set forth in the statute, as is what the court may, in its discretion, consider in making its decision. *See* I.C. §§ 9-343(1) (sole remedy), 9-344 (materials considered by the court). It is therefore unnecessary for the Court to refer to federal case law discussing a different statute for guidance on this issue.

More so, the federal cases Donoval cites are inapposite. Donoval begins by quoting *Renegotiation Bd. v. Bannercraft Closing Co., Inc.*, 415 U.S. 1 (1974) to support the general proposition that federal district courts have broad equitable power in enforcing the FOIA, but without any wider discussion thereof. (*See* Appellant's Br. at 37.)

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